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I. INTRODUCTION 
 

In September 2003, New York Attorney General Eliot Spitzer rocked the investment world 
with allegations that four mutual fund companies had struck secret deals with Canary Capital 
Partners, a New Jersey hedge fund.  These deals permitted Canary to trade in several funds after the 
markets had closed, allowing Canary to capitalize on after-hours news that would likely move the 
markets the next day.1  Those allegations set off an avalanche of further allegations, administrative 
proceedings, lawsuits, and Congressional investigations. 

On October 28, 2003, a class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for 
the Southern District of New York against the various Morgan Stanley funds and their managers 
and parent company Morgan Stanley, a Delaware corporation.2  The complaint charges Morgan 
Stanley with numerous violations of statutory and common law, including breach of fiduciary duty, 
due to alleged improper trading activities.3  The complaint further alleges that the plaintiffs placed 
their trust and confidence in Morgan Stanley to manage their assets, and that they reasonably 
expected Morgan Stanley to honor its obligations to them by observing the securities laws and 
honoring the representations made in the funds' prospectuses.4  Morgan Stanley, like most of 
corporate America, has a formal Code of Ethics, which is specifically applicable to its officers, and 
directors.5  It will be interesting to see if that Code of Ethics works against it at trial.  That Code is 
quite forceful and unambiguous when it states:    
 

It is your responsibility to know and understand the laws applicable to your job 
responsibilities and to comply with both the letter and the spirit of these laws. This 
requires that you avoid not only actual misconduct but also even the appearance of 
impropriety.6
 

                                                 
*Professor of Business Law, College of Business, Lamar University 
**Professor of Business Law, College of Business, Lamar University 
***Professor of Accounting, College of Business, Lamar University   
1 Janice Revell and David Stires, Making Sense of the Mutual Fund Scandal, FORTUNE, November 24, 2003 at 237. 
2 A copy of the complaint filed in this action is available from the Court, or can be viewed on the firm's website at 
http://www.cauleygeller.com/show_case.asp?ccode=185&pcode=10&pp=4. According to the complaint, "[e]ach of the 
defendants was an active participant in the breach of fiduciary duty who participated in the breach for the purpose of 
advancing their (sic) own interests." 
3 Id. 
4 Id. 
5 Available at http://www.morganstanley.com/about/inside/governance/ethics.html. 
6 Id. 
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 On November 13, 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission announced that Putnam 
Investment Management LLC (Putnam), a registered investment adviser, agreed to the entry of an 
order in the Commission's administrative proceeding relating to improper trading activities by some 
of Putnam's employees. 7  In the Order, which Putnam consented to without admitting or denying, 
Putnam agreed to reform its corporate governance, compliance, and ethics reforms, and to pay 
restititution.8 The Commission found that Putnam committed securities fraud by, among other 
things, failing to disclose potentially self-dealing securities trading by several of its employees.9  
According to the Commission, Putnam breached its fiduciary duties in violation of federal law.10  

On Dec. 2, 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission announced that it had filed civil 
fraud charges against Invesco Funds Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, its president and chief 
executive officer for fraudulently accepting investments by numerous market timers in Invesco 
mutual funds to enhance the management fees. According to the SEC, by violating policies 
contained in the funds' prospectus disclosures, defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the 
funds and their shareholders.11  
 As of the time this paper was written, the scandal showed no signs of abating. 
 
 

II. MUTUAL FUND SCANDAL BASICS 
 

After the stock market meltdown of 2000, there was no shortage of finger pointing.  
Lawsuits and scandals swirled around the heads of brokerage houses and specific stock sector 
analysts.  Enron's collapse in late 2001 brought a new crisis of confidence and a spate of criminal 
investigations and prosecutions against corporate executive and accounting firms culminating in the 
destruction of Arthur Andersen.12  The mutual fund industry managed to avoid the taint of 
corruption until late 2003, when a number of disturbing revelations surfaced.   

The first area of concern was “late trading.” Open-ended mutual funds have normally been 
required to stop accepting new buy and sell orders at 4 p.m. ET to get that day’s net asset value 
(NAV) price. The NAV is determined once a day, at 4 p.m.  Orders placed later than 4 p.m. were 
supposed to be purchased at the following day's closing price.  Several funds, it is alleged, allowed 
exceptions.  Special treatment was afforded to some "hedge funds."13  Apparently, some hedge 

                                                 
7 Press Release 2003-156, SEC, Putnam Agrees to Make Restitution and Implement Immediate, Significant Structural 
Reforms in Partial Resolution of SEC Enforcement Action, (November 13, 2003), available at 
http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2003-156.htm. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
10 Id. 
11 Press Release 2003-167, SEC, SEC Charges Invesco Funds Group, Inc. and CEO Raymond  Cunningham with Fraud 
and Breach of Fiduciary Duty for Allowing Market Timing at Invesco Funds, (December 2, 2003), available at 
http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2003-167.htm.. The SEC's action was brought contemporaneously with a related action by 
the Attorney General of the State of New York.  A copy of the complaint is available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/ 
complaints/comp18482.htm:  According to Stephen M. Cutler, Director of the SEC's Division of Enforcement, said, "IFG 
and its CEO willingly sacrificed the interests of mutual fund shareholders when market timers dangled the prospect of 
higher management fees in front of them. By granting special trading privileges to selected customers, they readily 
violated the fiduciary duty they owed to all shareholders and rendered meaningless the funds' prospectus disclosures on 
market timing." 
12 See, Rebecca Smith and John R. Emshwiller, 24 DAYS: HOW TWO WALL STREET JOURNAL REPORTERS UNCOVERED 
THE LIES THAT DESTROYED FAITH  IN  CORPORATE AMERICA, Harper Business (2003). 
13 Essentially independent investment funds run for groups of wealthy investors. 
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funds and some other favored investors were allowed to make purchases after the 4 P.M. deadline.  
News sometimes breaks after 4 p.m., producing significant changes of price in stocks held by these 
mutual funds.  Those prices would be reflected in the mutual fund's NAV on the following day.  
The favored "late traders" got the opportunity to take advantage of such after acquired information.  
Since open-end mutual funds continually issue new shares at the closing NAV, existing 
shareholders were, in essence, sharing their fortuitous gains with the new purchasers who diluted 
their gains.14  The Securities and Exchange Commission and some state officials have charged that 
this type of late trading was clearly illegal. 

A second abuse called “market timing” also involved hedge funds.15  Certain funds and 
some  other favored investors were allowed to practice a form of arbitrage by taking advantage of 
time differences among global stock markets.  Asian and European stock markets close hours 
before the U.S. market's  4 p.m. closing.  If U.S. stocks rise sharply, Asian and European markets 
often follow suit the next day. The so-called market timers were allowed to buy the fund family's 
foreign stock funds today and sell tomorrow to capture this increase.16

 A third scandal emerged late in late 2003.  Some brokerage houses were accused of 
recommending only certain favored or "partner" funds to their clients interested in purchasing 
mutual funds. 17   Typically, these were load funds18 that charged significant fees, which they shared 
with the recommending brokerage firm.19 The portion of those brokerage commissions directed 

                                                 
14 In essence, the NAV is a fixed amount at 4 p.m., the late traders added cash (increasing the assets held by the fund) and 
got to share in the next day's gains by increasing the denominator to the NAV formula, which is assets divided by the 
number of shares issued by the mutual fund. 
15 One of the firms implicated in market timing was Putnam Securities.  Putnam placed a letter to its shareholders at its 
Web site stating: "We deeply regret that there have been market timing issues at Putnam, and we apologize to all of our 
investors." Available at www.putnam.com. 
16 Timothy Middleton, The Mutual Fund Scandal and You, by, available at the CNBC Web site at  
http://moneycentral.msn.com/content/P66897.asp. 
17 In the Matter of Morgan Stanley DW, Inc., Administrative Proceedings File No. 3-11335, November 17, 2003, 
available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/33-8339.htm#foot3: Describing proceedings instituted by the SEC 
against Morgan Stanley:  "Although Morgan Stanley DW requested and preferred gross sales payments in the form of 
cash ('hard dollars'), the firm often accepted Asset Retention Program payments in the form of brokerage commissions on 
participants' portfolio transactions." 
18 Roger E. Meiners, Al H. Ringleb, and Frances L. Edwards, THE LEGAL ENVIRONMENT OF BUSINESS, 8th ed., 
Thompson/South-Western (2003) at 661: "There are two kinds of mutual funds: load and no-load.  The former are sold to 
the public through a securities dealer and have a sales commission (load) of some percentage of the price. No-load funds 
are sold directly to the public through the mail with no sales commission."  An example of a sales commission is posted at 
the Web site of Wells Fargo Funds at www.wellsfargofunds.com, where it is stated that for purchases below $50,000, the 
sales commission equals 5.75%.  In other words, a $10,000 purchase of a Wells Fargo equity fund would generate an 
immediate commission equal to $575, leaving only $9,425 to be invested in the stocks represented by the net asset value of 
the fund.  Conversely, with a no-load fund the entire $10,000 would be invested in the equities represented by the NAV. 
19 Tom Lauricella and Christopher Oster, Why Your Mutual Fund's Trading Matters, WALL STREET JOURNAL. January 
16, 2004, p. C-1, at C-17: "In recent years, more fund companies have been using soft dollars to make payments that are 
ostensibly used by securities firms to defray those firm's costs in marketing funds to investors.  This practice gained 
notoriety as part of the SEC's look into mutual-fund sales practices at Morgan Stanley, where some fund companies paid 
Morgan to be considered preferred 'partner' funds.  According to an SEC case that Morgan settled last year for $50 million 
without admitting or denying wrongdoing, eight of the 14 outside fund groups on the preferred list paid some or all the 
money owed to Morgan through commissions." 
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back to the recommending brokerage is referred to as "soft money."20  In some cases, it seems that 
the brokers "steered" their trusting customers to lower performing and/or costlier funds.21

 Federal and state regulators were quick to condemn these previously "hidden" practices.22  
According to SEC Chairman William Donaldson:  "It is extremely troubling that so many of the 
recent scandals in the mutual-fund industry have involved a breach of fiduciary relationship 
between investment advisers and their advised funds."23  New York Attorney General Spitzer, gave 
testimony to a Congressional Committee: 
 

Our continuing investigations reveal a systemic breakdown in mutual fund 
governance that allowed directors and managers to ignore the interests of investors. 
In fund after fund, what we have seen is the wholesale abandonment of fiduciary 
responsibilities. As Chairman Donaldson put it to this Committee on Tuesday, 'the 
industry lost sight of certain fundamental 
principles, including its responsibilities to the millions of people who entrusted 
their confidence[and] the fruits of their labor . . . to this industry for safekeeping. . . . 
Simply stated, the desire for increased fees led managers and directors to abandon 
their duty to investors and to condone improper and illegal activity.24

 
 

III. AN OVERVIEW OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES  
 

 The term "fiduciary" comes to us from Roman law, and means "a person holding the 
character of a trustee, or a character analogous of a trustee, in respect to the trust and confidence 
involved in it and the scrupulous good faith and candor which it requires."25  Fiduciaries have a 
duty, created by undertaking certain types of acts, to act primarily for the benefit of another in 
matters connected with such undertaking.26  Undertakings that carry fiduciary duties or capacities 
include trustees, attorneys at law, guardians, executors, brokers, public officers, and directors of a 
corporation,27 which would include the directors of mutual funds if they are incorporated. 
 The fiduciary duties of a corporate director are more a matter of character than of 
competence.  Corporate directors, in performing their duties to the corporation and its owners, are 
under a duty of care to "conduct themselves on behalf of the corporation as a reasonably prudent 
person in the conduct of personal business affairs."28  Honest mistakes in judgment, not tainted by 
negligence, do not result in personal liability to members of the board.29  The reason for forgiving 
such honest mistakes in judgment is the "business judgment rule."30

                                                 
20 Note 8 supra at note 3. 
21 Deborah Solomon, SEC Unveils Mutual-Fund Rules - More On Way, THE WALL STREET JOURNAL, January 15, 2004, 
at C1. 
22 Anyone who had unsuccessfully tried to purchase a no-load mutual fund through a traditional brokerage house would 
probably have had an inkling that steering was occurring. 
23 Id. 
24 Testimony of Attorney General Eliot Spitzer Before the United States Senate Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 
Committee, Washington, D.C., November 20, 2003, available at http://www.oag.state.ny.us/ (speeches link). 
25 BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 563 (Fifth ed. 1979). 
26 Id. 
27 Id., at 564, definition of "Fiduciary capacity." 
28 Meiners, et al supra at note 8 page 408. 
29 Id. at 408-09. 
30 Id. at 409. 
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The business judgment rule and the fiduciary duties of directors are intertwined concepts. 
Traditionally, under the business judgment rule, corporate directors owe a fiduciary duty to act on 
an informed basis, with reasonable care, and in good faith.31  This duty had been "exclusively owed 
to the corporation and its shareholders and to no others."32 This clear rule has been somewhat 
muddied by public officials, also fiduciaries, who were concerned by the mergers and acquisitions 
craze of the 1980s, whereby the industrial landscape of the United States was laid waste.  To help 
protect their communities from being decimated, several states enacted laws to make the merger 
and closing of local employers more difficult, perhaps with some unintended consequences.  
Minnesota, for instance, adopted the following statute: 
 

In discharging the duties of the position of director, a director may, in considering 
the best interests of the corporation, consider the interests of the corporation's 
employees, customers, suppliers, and creditors, the economy of the state and 
nation, community and societal considerations, and the long-term as well as short-
term interests of the corporation and its shareholders, including the possibility that 
these interests may be best served by the continued independence of the 
corporation.33

 
 

IV. THE DELAWARE EFFECT 
 
 Delaware, a small and otherwise relatively unheralded state, is recognized as the corporate 
home for most major United States corporations - a mantle it inherited from New Jersey.34  Many 
reasons are given for this phenomenon - some benign and others not.  Former President Theodore 
Roosevelt and consumer activist Ralph Nader are two of the most noted critics of Delaware's 
exalted position over corporate law in America.35 In an often-quoted critique of Delaware, William 
Cary wrote: 
 

[T]he first step [for improving corporate law] is to escape from the present 
predicament in which a pygmy among the 50 states prescribes, interprets, and 
indeed denigrates national corporate policy as an incentive to encourage 
incorporations within its borders…36

 

                                                 
31 Henry Cheeseman, BUSINESS LAW, 5th ed., Pearson-Prentice Hall, New Jersey, 2004, p. 708. 
32 Id. 
33 Minn. Stat. Sec. 302A251(5), quoted in Cheeseman, supra note 9. 
34 Frederick D. Sturdivant, BUSINESS AND SOCIETY, Richard D. Irwin, 3rd ed., 1985, at 340-41:  "New Jersey was the early 
winner in the race by states to charter corporations.  By 1900, 95 percent of the major corporations were chartered in New 
Jersey.  The revenue results were so favorable that by 1905 New Jersey had eliminated all property taxes, had retired all 
debt, and had a treasury surplus of $3 million. By 1912, most state corporation laws were modeled after New Jersey.  
Delaware had enacted an even more liberal law in 1899.  However, few companies left New Jersey until Woodrow 
Wilson, the reform-minded president of Princeton University, was elected governor and argued for reform of the 
corporation law.  Delaware emerged as the new home of the corporation.  From 1913 to 1934, 31 percent of Delaware tax 
revenues came from incorporation fees and annual franchise taxes.” 
35 Id. at 341. 
36 William Cary, Federalism and Corporate Law: Reflections on Delaware, 83 YALE L.J. 663, 701 (1974). 
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Delaware corporation law is generally considered to favor the directors over the sometimes 
competing interests of shareholders.37

 Professor Robert Daines, on the other hand, published an empirical study that demonstrated 
that publicly-held Delaware firms are, on average, more valuable than publicly-held firms 
incorporated elsewhere.38 It is not the purpose of this paper to join the debate over the efficacy of 
Delaware incorporation, rather this discussion is included to place the forthcoming discussion into a 
legal and historical perspective. 

The Supreme Court of Delaware has held that corporate directors are charged with a 
tripartite fiduciary duty composed of the duties of due care, good faith and loyalty. Such duties 
according to the Court do not operate intermittently but are a constant compass by which director 
actions must be guided.39 Directors who knowingly disseminate false information that results in 
corporate injury or damage to a shareholder violate their fiduciary duty and may be held 
accountable.40 This requirement that false information must be disseminated knowingly, or with 
scienter, has been criticized as being too rigorous in that it imposes upon plaintiffs a higher pleading 
and proof standard than that generally required under the federal securities laws.41 For instance, it 
appears that Delaware does not recognize a "fraud on the market" theory, making an improper 
disclosure claim under Delaware law more difficult than under federal law by requiring that each 
individual class member prove reliance on the alleged improper disclosure.42

 Delaware Corporation Law permits Delaware corporations to adopt provisions in their 
articles of incorporation insulating directors from liability arising from their breaching the duty of 
care, but not for breaches of the duty of loyalty.43  According to Article IX of Morgan Stanley's 
Articles of Incorporation, "Director's Liability": 
 

A director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation or its 
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, 
except for liability (1) for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the 
Corporation or its stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which 
involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) under Section 
174 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or (4) for any 
transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. Any 
amendment or repeal of this Article IX shall not adversely affect any right or 
protection of a director of the Corporation existing hereunder in respect of any act 
or omission occurring prior to such amendment or repeal.  

 

                                                 
37 See, Robert Daines, Does Delaware Law Matter?, NYU  FACULTY  FOCUS (Autumn 2002), 6,7: Cary argues, 
“Delaware's fiduciary duty laws are too lax and its shareholder rights too limited." 
38 Robert Daines, Does Delaware Improve Firm Value?, 62 JOURNAL OF FINANCIAL ECONOMICS 525 (2001). 
39 Malone v. Brincat 
40 Id. 
41 Dennis J. Block and Jonathan M. Hoff, The Delaware Courts And Fiduciary Duty, available at 
http://library.lp.findlaw.com/articles/file/00343/004485/title/Subject/topic/Corporations%20%20Enterprise%20Law_Dire
ctor%20%20Officer%20Liability/filename/corporationsenterpriselaw_1_114. 
42 Id. 
43 D. Block and J. Hoff, The Delaware Courts and Fiduciary Duty, originally published in the March 25, 1999 edition of 
the NEW YORK LAW JOURNAL, available at 
http://articles.corporate.findlaw.com/articles/file/00343/004485/title/Subject/topic/Corporations%20%20Enterprise%20La
w_Director%20%20Officer%20Liability/filename/corporationsenterpriselaw_1_114. 
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If the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware shall be amended, to 
authorize corporation action further eliminating or limiting the liability of directors, 
then a director of the Corporation, in addition to the circumstances in which he is 
not liable immediately prior to such amendment, shall be free of liability to the 
fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, 
as so amended.44  

 
 

V. THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 
 

The Investment Company Act of 194045 (the "ICA") regulates the activities of mutual 
funds.  This law contains its own fiduciary duty provisions at Section 35, “Breach of Fiduciary 
Duty.” Subsection (a), "Civil actions by Commission; jurisdiction; allegations; injunctive or other 
relief," states:  

 
The Commission is authorized to bring an action in the proper district court of the 
United States, or in the United States court of any territory or other place subject to 
the jurisdiction of the United States, alleging that a person serving or acting in one 
or more of the following capacities has engaged within five years of the 
commencement of the action or is about to engage in any act or practice 
constituting a breach of fiduciary duty involving personal misconduct in respect of 
any registered investment company for which such person so serves or acts-- 
(1) as officer, director, member of any advisory board, investment adviser, or 
depositor; or 
(2) as principal underwriter, if such registered company is an open-end company, 
unit investment trust, or face-amount certificate company. 
If such allegations are established, the court may enjoin such persons from acting 
in any or all such capacities either permanently or temporarily and award such 
injunctive or other relief against such person as may be reasonable and appropriate 
in the circumstances, having due regard to the protection of investors and to the 
effectuation of the policies declared in section 80a-1(b) of this title. 

 
Section 35(b) applies a fiduciary duty with respect to the receipt of compensation for 

services, or of payments of a material nature, paid by such registered investment company, or by the 
security holders thereof, to such investment adviser or any affiliated person of such investment  
adviser.46 The United States District Court for the District of New Jersey held that Section 35(b) of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “1940 Act”) preempts state law claims for breach of 

                                                 
44 Available at http://www.morganstanley.com/about/inside/governance/certcomp.html?page=about. 
45 15 U.S.C. § 80a-1. 
46 An action may be brought under this subsection by the Commission, or by a security holder of such registered 
investment company on behalf of such company, against such investment adviser, or any affiliated person of such 
investment adviser, or any other person enumerated in subsection (a) of this section who has a fiduciary duty concerning 
such compensation or payments, for breach of fiduciary duty in respect of such compensation or payments paid by such 
registered investment company or by the security holders thereof to such investment adviser or person. With respect to any 
such action the following provisions shall apply: 
1. It shall not be necessary to allege or prove that any defendant engaged in personal misconduct, and the plaintiff shall 
have the burden of proving a breach of fiduciary duty. 
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fiduciary duty and deceit.47 Noting that Congress had enacted Section 35(b) because of the 
ineffectiveness of prior remedies for excessive management fees and the struggle of state courts to 
apply standard fiduciary principles, the court concluded that Congress had intended for Section 
35(b) to replace, rather than supplement, these ineffective prior remedies.48

 
 

VI. JOHN BOGLE'S SUGGESTIONS FOR IMPROVING THE ICA 
 
John C. Bogle is founder of The Vanguard Group, Inc., and President of the Bogle 

Financial Markets Research Center.  Mr. Bogle started Vanguard, the second-largest mutual fund 
company in the world, in 1974 and served as Chairman through 1997 and Senior Chairman through 
1999.49  Mr. Bogle appears often on television and before Congress discussing mutual fund 
practices.  In recent years he has been a frequent critic of the industry he helped to create.  Many of 
his speeches are available at the Research Center's Web site.  Increasingly, he has been stressing that 
many of the problems besetting mutual funds, and corporate America in general, relate to fiduciary 
failings: 

 
The problem with corporate America, it seems increasingly clear, lies in the fact 
that far too many corporate executives and directors have been placed in positions 
of great power and authority without an adequate understanding of their fiduciary 
duties, and that too many institutional intermediaries have failed to take them to 
task and demand that the interests of shareowners be served.50

 
He refers to the conflict between the professional (or fiduciary) and business ends of the mutual 
fund industry as the distinction between church and state, respectively.  And over time, he feels, the 
                                                                                                                                                 
2. In any such action approval by the board of directors of such investment company of such compensation or payments, 
or of contracts or other arrangements providing for such compensation or payments, and ratification or approval of such 
compensation or payments, or of contracts or other arrangements providing for such compensation or payments, by the 
shareholders of such investment company, shall be given such consideration by the court as is deemed appropriate under 
all the circumstances. 
3. No such action shall be brought or maintained against any person other than the recipient of such compensation or 
payments, and no damages or other relief shall be granted against any person other than the recipient of such compensation 
or payments. No award of damages shall be recoverable for any period prior to one year before the action was instituted. 
Any award of damages against such recipient shall be limited to the actual damages resulting from the breach of fiduciary 
duty and shall in no event exceed the amount of compensation or payments received from such investment company, or 
the security holders thereof, by such recipient. 
4. This subsection shall not apply to compensation or payments made in connection with transactions subject to section 17 
of this title [15 USCS § 80a-17], or rules, regulations, or orders thereunder, or to sales loads for the acquisition of any 
security issued by a registered investment company. 
5. Any action pursuant to this subsection may be brought only in an appropriate district court of the United States. 
No finding by a court with respect to a breach of fiduciary duty under this subsection shall be made a basis (A) for a 
finding of a violation of this title for the purposes of sections 9 and 49 of this title [15 USCS § § 80a-9, 80a-48], section 15 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [15 USCS § 78o], or section 203 of title II of this Act [15 USCS § 80b-3], or (B) 
for an injunction to prohibit any person from serving in any of the capacities enumerated in subsection (a) of this section.  
47 Green  v. Fund Asset Management, L.P. http://www.goodwinprocter.com/fsas/FSA_7_27_99.pdf. 
48 Id. 
49 See Mr. Bogle's biography available at http://www.vanguard.com/bogle_site/bogle_bio.html. 
50 John C. Bogle, Corporate Governance and Mutual Fund Governance - Reflections at a Time of Crisis, remarks before 
the Corporate Governance Conference, the New York Society of Securities Analysts, New York, NY, November 21, 
2003, available at http://www.vanguard.com/bogle_site/sp20031121.html. 
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state side dominates the church.51  He notes that the same distinction can be found in the medical, 
legal, and accounting professions.  Certainly, the demise of the Arthur Andersen CPA firm can be 
seen as evidence that the professional side (auditing) can be disastrously dominated by the business 
side (consulting).   
 Mr. Bogle has seen the mutual fund industry change to the point where it is now dominated 
by large financial institutions, not associated with the industry's original ideals.52  A recent article in 
Fortune Magazine forcefully trumpets the same charge:   
 

The market-timing scandals represent the culmination of a 20-year drift during 
which mutual funds went from being safe harbors for small investors to shark-
infested waters.  Mutual funds' assets grew 20-fold, to $7 trillion, in that period, but 
it was the funds' owners, not customers, who got wealth. 
The hucksters who flocked to this business preferred slickly gathering assets to 
prudently managing them.53  

 
 Mr. Bogle offers the following prescription for rectifying the current situation:   
 

In mutual fund America, however, ownership is so diffused that the only power 
that can assure that mutual funds will be governed in the interest of their owners 
lies in the hands of their directors. Today, however, directors possess neither the 
motivation nor the ability to make their impact felt. So we must either provide 
those directors with the independent ability and substance to carry out their 
fiduciary responsibilities or, at long last, foster the adoption by large, established 
fund groups of a truly mutual structure under which they can, of all things, 
organize, operate, and manage themselves.54

 

                                                 
51 Id. "The mutual fund industry has both a professional side (the fiduciary obligation to place the client first) and a 
business side (the managers’ zeal to make money for themselves). In journalism, this distinction is called 'church' and 
'state,' and a similar distinction exists in medicine (patient care vs. profits), in auditing (consulting is 'state'), and in the law. 
In each of these areas, the state hierarchy seems to gradually become more and more powerful, the church hierarchy less 
so. Public policy must seek to reverse that baneful trend." 
52 Id. "The problem with mutual fund governance is that the fiduciary side of the business has never had a firm foundation 
upon which to rest, and has had to rely upon honorable intentions and a spirit of trusteeship. The relatively small group of 
professional managers of yore, operating via small corporations and private partnerships, has long since been supplanted 
by large management companies that are largely owned and controlled by giant global financial conglomerates. 
Businesses? You bet they are! And their goal is to maximize, to the last possible cent, the return on their investment in the 
management companies that they organize (or acquire), manage, and operate. If that isn’t the diametrical opposite of the 
language of what the 1940 Act calls for, someone will have to tell me what is." 
53 Helyar, Hohn, The House Always Wins, FORTUNE, March 22, 2004, at 123-124.  A mutual fund consultant quoted later 
in the article gives a similar account: "The increasingly speculative nature of mutual funds was dispiriting to some who 
remembered a time when they were supposed to reduce risk by pooling small investors' money and spreading investments 
over many stocks. 'There was a missionary zeal to it then,' says Burt Greenwald, a Philadelphia mutual fund consultant 
who entered the business in 1958. 'We were doing God's work for the modest investor.  From 1980 on, there was a slow 
disintegration of that culture and an entry of people who realized it was a hot business.'" 
54 Bogle supra at note 50. 
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 Specifically, he makes several suggestions for improving mutual fund corporate 
governance.  First, he suggests legislation requiring mutual company55 status for the firms in the 
industry as opposed to the current situation where among the industry’s 50 largest firms, only seven 
private firms remain, another seven are publicly held, and 36 are owned by huge financial 
conglomerates.56  Second, he would like to see the ICA amended to require an independent board 
chairman, limit the manager to a single board seat, and enable the board to retain its own staff to 
provide information that is independent and objective.57 Third, he proposes that the ICA be 
amended to specifically state that directors owe a fiduciary duty to their customers.58

 
  

VII. THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 
 

In 1940, Congress also enacted the Investment Advisers Act (the IAA).59  The IAA defines 
an investment adviser as a "person who, for compensation, engages in the business of advising 
others . . . as to the advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling securities."  Investment 
advisers contract to direct the investment strategies of mutual funds.60 Section 206 of the Advisers 
Act imposes a fiduciary duty on investment advisers to exercise the utmost good faith in dealings 
with clients.61 Section 206 of the IAA concerns "Prohibited Transactions by Investment Advisers." 

 
Section 206. It shall be unlawful for any investment adviser, by use of the mails or 
any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly:  

 
(1) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or prospective 
client;  

 
 (2) To engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operates as 
a fraud or deceit upon any client or prospective client; 

 
(3) Acting as principal for his own account, knowingly to sell any security to or 
purchase any security from a client, or acting as broker for a person other than such 
client, knowingly to effect any sale or purchase of any security for the account of 
such client, without disclosing to such client in writing before the completion of 

                                                 
55 According to Black's Law Dictionary, Fifth ed. (West Publishing Co.) 1979, at 920, a mutual company is "a corporation 
in which shares are held exclusively by members to whom profits are distributed as dividends in proportion to the business 
which the members did with the company."  
56 Bogle, supra at note 50.. 
57 John C. Bogle, Somebody’s Gotta Keep An Eye On These Geniuses— What We Must Do To Restore Owners 
Capitalism, Keynote Speech before The Directors’ Summit of the State of Wisconsin Investment Board, Madison, WI, 
October 1, 2003, available at http://www.vanguard.com/bogle_site/sp20031001.html.  
58 Bogle supra, note 50: "We also need a requirement that fund directors have a fiduciary duty to carry out the noble 
purpose of the 1940 Act’s preamble: Mutual funds must be 'organized, operated, and managed' in the interests of fund 
shareholders, rather than in the interests of fund 'directors, officers, investment advisers, underwriters, and distributors.'” 
59 15 U.S.C. 80b-1. 
60 Meiners, et al supra note 8, at 663. 
61 SEC  v. Wall Street Publishing Institute, Inc. 591 F. Supp. 1070, 1082 (D.D.C. 1984): "[S]ection 206 established federal 
fiduciary standards to govern the conduct of investment advisers."  See also, In the Matter of  F.W. Thompson  Company, 
Ltd. and Frederick W. Thompson, Respondent, ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING FILE NO. 3-10280, available at 
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/ia-1895.htm. 
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such transaction the capacity in which he is acting and obtaining the consent of the 
client to such transaction. The prohibitions of this paragraph (3) shall not apply to 
any transaction with a customer of a broker or dealer if such broker or dealer is not 
acting as an investment adviser in relation to such transaction;  

 
(4) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which is fraudulent, 
deceptive, or manipulative. The Commission shall, for the purposes of this 
paragraph (4) by rules and regulations define, and prescribe means reasonably 
designed to prevent, such acts, practices, and courses of business as are fraudulent, 
deceptive, or manipulative.  
 
The Supreme Court has interpreted Section 206 to impose a fiduciary duty on investment 

advisers, requiring an affirmative obligation of utmost good faith, and full and fair disclosure of all 
material facts to an investment adviser's clients and precludes them from using their clients' assets to 
benefit themselves. 62  

As a fiduciary, an investment adviser has a duty to disclose to clients "all material 
information which is intended ̀ to eliminate, or at least expose,' all potential or actual conflicts of 
interest ̀ which might incline an investment adviser consciously or unconsciously - - to render 
advice which is not disinterested.'"63 A fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a 
reasonable investor would consider it important.64  

Scienter is an element of a Section 206(1) violation, but not a Section 206(2) violation.65 
Scienter is "a mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud,66" including actions 
described as demonstrating "extreme recklessness."67

 
 

VIII. FEDERAL REGULATION OF SECURITIES LITIGATION 
 

In an effort to reduce what some have characterized as frivolous class action litigation 
brought under the federal securities laws, Congress enacted the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act (the "Reform Act") in December 1995 over President Clinton's veto. The Reform Act 
contained various procedural reforms, including heightened pleading standards, a stay of discovery 
pending the resolution of motions to dismiss, a safe harbor provision for forward-looking statements 
and heightened judicial scrutiny of settlement terms. Following the enactment of the Reform Act, 
class action plaintiffs increasingly attempted to bring securities claims in state courts under state 
common law theories in order to avoid the constraints imposed on them under the Reform Act. 
                                                 
62 In the Matter of  Performance Analytics, Inc., and Leslie I. Golembo, ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING FILE NO. 3-10802, 
available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/34-46081.htm. 
63 Id., citing 1986 Interpretive Release Concerning the Scope of Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
Exchange Act Rel. No. 23170 (April 23, 1986), 1986 SEC Lexis 1689(quoting Capital Gains Research, 375 U.S. at 191-
92). See Kingsley, 1991 SEC Lexis 2587 at 38. 
64 Id. 
65 Id., citing Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1134 (5th Cir. 1979); Oakwood Counselors, Inc. and Paul J. Sherman, 
Advisers Act Rel. No. 1614 (February 10, 1997), 1997 SEC Lexis 304 at 12; SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 
375 U.S. 180, 191-92 (1963). 
66 Id., citing Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 47 L. Ed. 2d 668, 96 S. Ct. 1375 (1976) 
67 Id., citing SEC v. Steadman, 967 F.2d at 641. Extreme recklessness is an "extreme departure from the standard of 
ordinary care, . . . which presents a danger of misleading buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant or is so 
obvious that the actor must have been aware of it." Id. at 641-42 
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In response to allegations that the class action securities bar had begun forum shopping 
their cases to state courts, Congress passed the Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 
1998.68  The Act amends both the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
and prohibits state courts from prosecuting class action securities fraud suits, and gives federal 
courts the right to stay discovery in state court actions that interfere with federal jurisdiction.69  The 
Uniform Act prohibited class actions based upon state law alleging either an untrue statement or 
omission of material fact or the use of a manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of a covered security as defined in §18(b)(1) or (2) of the 
Securities Act. Accordingly, the Uniform Act seeks to preempt state law fraud class actions in 
connection with the purchase or sale of a security. Significantly, the Uniform Act recognizes two 
important exceptions. First, exclusively derivative actions brought by shareholders on behalf of 
corporations (which by their nature are not "class actions") are excluded from the Uniform Act. 
Second, the Uniform Act preserves state law class actions involving (i) the purchase or sale of 
securities by an issuer exclusively from or to the issuer's shareholders or (ii) any recommendation, 
position or other communication, with respect to the sale of the issuer's securities, that is made by 
the issuer to its shareholders concerning the shareholders' decisions with respect to voting, 
responding to a tender or exchange offer or exercising dissenters' or appraisal rights.  

To the extent the claim is brought as a class action, the state law exceptions to the Uniform 
Act only apply to disclosures involving (i) the purchase or sale of securities by an issuer from its 
shareholders or (ii) a recommendation or other communication made by an issuer concerning 
voting rights, a tender or exchange offer or appraisal or dissenters'' rights, but in connection with the 
sale of securities. The state law exceptions only apply where a purchase or sale of securities is 
involved, which would appear to cover the situation involving open-end mutual funds that 
continually issue new fund shares to purchasers. 

 
 

IX. CONCLUSION 
 
 Ex-presidential candidate Howard Dean offered fiduciary duty as a way to address a related 
problem, retirement plans led astray by unethical investment advisers:   
 

We cannot allow another Enron. Participants in 401(k) plans should be provided 
objective independent investment advice at no charge, and federal law should limit 
the percentage of a plan that can be invested in the stock of the participant's 
employer. ERISA should be amended to provide that brokers who give investment 
advice or advise employers about assets or mutual fund selection are treated as plan 
fiduciaries.70

 
Fortune Magazine has proffered three steps to fix the scandal-plagued mutual-fund 

industry:   
 

                                                 
68 Pub. Law 105-353 (112 Stat. 3235). 
69 F. Cavaliere and M. Veuleman, The Legal Status of Pro Forma Earnings Reports Under the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, XIII SOUTHERN L.J.84, 88 (2003). 
70 Governor Dean's response to an AFL-CIO candidate questionnaire, available at 
http://www.aflcio.org/issuespolitics/politics/candidates_dean.cfm 
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1.  Beef-up the boards - mandate more independence on the board and ensure 
directors have full access to all information about fund operations, including SEC 
concerns, 
2.  Disclose compensation - fund investors should have more information 
concerning how much compensation is paid to fund managers, and whether it is 
based on performance or by attracting more investors, 
3.  Disclose all fees - let people know whether the fund is paying higher trading 
costs than necessary in order to compensate brokerage house "partners."71

 
 Will these suggestions fix the situation?  Possibly, but if fund managers and advisers were 
following the existing laws, they would already be acting as fiduciaries and none of these measures 
would seem to be necessary.   

Are additional laws needed?  Or, as John Bogle has suggested, do we need to amend 
existing statutes to make it clear to mutual fund directors, that we really, really want them to take 
their fiduciary responsibilities seriously?  As has been shown above, there are a plethora of existing 
laws, most of which seem to have been quite ineffective so far as deterring bad conduct at mutual 
funds.   

                                                 
71 Revell and Stires, supra note  1, at p. 240. 


